IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WAYNE TREACY

Supreme Court Case No: SC12-647

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following symbols, abbreviations, and references will be utilized throughout this initial brief on the merits of Petitioner:

•

The term "Petitioner" shall refer to WAYNE TREACY, the juvenile Defendant in the trial court.

The term "Respondent" shall refer to the Sheriff of Broward County, Florida.

Citations to the Appendix shall be indicated by an "App" followed by the appropriate item, such as (App: B).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a Petition seeking a determination of whether the juvenile petitioner, who was charged with a non-homicide life felony, was entitled to pre-trial bail as a matter of right because of the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Graham</u>, which eliminated the possibility of life imprisonment for a juvenile convicted of a nonhomicide offense.

On or about March 17, 2010, the Petitioner, who was fifteen (15) years old at the time, was arrested by the Broward Sheriff's Office for the offense of attempted premeditated murder in the first degree. The Petitioner was taken to the Department of Juvenile Justice and held in custody until April 16, 2010, when the State of Florida filed an information against the Petitioner charging him as an adult with first degree premeditated murder with the use of a weapon, in violation of Fla.Stat.§777.04(4)(b); 782.04(1)(a); 775.087(1)(a). (App: A). Because the State alleged that the Petitioner used a deadly weapon, his offense was reclassified as a life felony. <u>Id</u>. The Petitioner was transferred to the custody of the Broward County Jail.

Shortly thereafter, on May 17, 2010, the United States Supreme Court decided <u>Graham v. Florida</u>,¹ which held that a juvenile convicted of a non-

¹ 130 S.Ct. 2011, 2034 (2010).

homicide offense could not be given a life sentence without the possibility of parole. As a result, on June 24, 2010, the Petitioner filed a Motion to Set Bond with the Broward County Circuit Court arguing that since Article I, section 14 provided for pre-trial release as a matter of right for all offenses that were not a capital offense or "an offense punishable by life imprisonment", and because <u>Graham</u> eliminated the possibility of life imprisonment for the Petitioner, then his offense was no longer deemed an offense punishable by life for pretrial release purposes. (App: B,G).

Although the trial court informed the parties that he believed that the issue of whether the Petitioner was entitled to bail as a matter of law was "close", the trial court issued a lengthy opinion <u>denying</u> pretrial bail as a matter of right. (App: D). The trial court also, without stating specific reasons, indicated that it was exercising its discretion to deny bail under <u>State v. Arthur</u>, 390 So.2d 717 (Fla. 1980) and Fla. Stat. §903.046. <u>Id</u>.

On July 16, 2010, a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was filed with the Fourth District Court of Appeal, but it was <u>denied</u> without a written opinion. (App: I). The Fourth District also denied the Petitioner's motions for rehearing, rehearing en banc, request for a written opinion, and request to certify the issue to the Florida Supreme Court. (App: I). On August 26, 2011, jurisdiction was sought in this Honorable Court in Case No. S10-1861, but, on September 23, 2010, it was denied based upon *Stallworth v. Moore*, 827 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2002).

Subsequently, the petitioner learned that the Fourth District granted a petition for writ of habeas corpus for another juvenile based upon an identical argument, thereby rendering conflicting results on the same issue. As such, on November 9, 2011, the petitioner filed a second motion to set bond with the trial court. (App: E). After hearing brief argument, the trial court did not alter its previous denial of bond. (App: F at 20).

On December 16, 2011, the petitioner filed a second petition for writ of habeas corpus which was sought in order to prevent a manifest injustice caused by giving relief to one juvenile (McCray), but not another (Treacy), under virtually identical circumstances. (App: G). On January 25, 2012, the Fourth District rendered a written opinion <u>denying</u> the petition for writ of habeas corpus, finding that the Petitioner was not entitled to pre-trial release as a matter of right because "Article I, section 14 of the Florida Constitution focuses on the classification of the offense to determine entitlement to pre-trial release, and not the potential severity of punishment." <u>Treacy v. Lamberti</u>, 80 So.3d 153 (Fla. 4th DCA 2012).

During the pendency of this matter, the petitioner was convicted by jury and sentenced to twenty (20) years in prison followed by ten (10) years of probation.

(App: J). However, this does not render this issue moot since it is capable of repetition by other similarity situated juveniles. See <u>Kight v. Dugger</u>, 574 So.2d
1066 (Fla. 1990). As such, this timely initial brief on the merits ensues.

•

SUMMARY ARGUMENT

The Petitioner was entitled to pre-trial release as a matter of right because the <u>Graham</u> decision eliminated the possibility of life imprisonment for the Petitioner. Because Article I, section 14 of the Florida Constitution provided for pretrial release as a matter of right for all offenses that were not a capital offense or "an offense punishable by life imprisonment", and because <u>Graham</u> eliminated the possibility of life imprisonment for the Petitioner, then his offense was no longer deemed an offense punishable by life for pretrial release purposes. The Fourth District's order must therefore be quashed.

ARGUMENT

THE PETITIONER WAS ENTITLED TO PRE-TRIAL RELEASE AS A MATTER OF RIGHT BECAUSE HE WAS NO LONGER CHARGED WITH AN OFFENSE THAT WAS PUNISHABLE BY LIFE IMPRISONMENT.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal incorrectly utilized the classification approach when it held that the Petitioner was not entitled to pretrial release as a matter of right even though <u>Graham</u> eliminated the possibility of life imprisonment for the Petitioner. The plain and deliberate language used in Article I, section 14 of the Florida Constitution reveals that the possible penalty, and not the legislature's classification of the Petitioner's offense, controls. Thus, after reviewing this matter *de novo*, the Fourth District's opinion must respectfully be quashed. *Ford v. Browning*, 992 So.2d 132, 136 (Fla. 2008) (constitutional interpretation is performed under a *de novo* standard of review).

The Petitioner was charged with attempted first-degree premeditated murder with a deadly weapon, an offense which was reclassified as a life felony and punishable by life imprisonment. (App: A). However, because the petitioner was only fifteen years old when this offense was committed, he was prohibited from being sentenced to life in prison based upon Florida's current sentencing scheme and the Supreme Court's ruling in *Graham*.

In <u>Graham v.Florida</u>, 130 S. Ct. 2011 (2010), the Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits the imposition of a life sentence without parole for a juvenile offender who commits a nonhomicide offense. See also <u>Miller v. Alabama</u>, 132 S.Ct 2455 (2012). As such, since the Petitioner's offense was no longer punishable by life imprisonment, he was entitled to pretrial release as a matter of right under the Florida Constitution.

Article I, section 14, of the Florida Constitution, entitled "Pretrial Release and Detention", provides as follows: Unless charged with a capital offense or an offense <u>punishable by life imprisonment</u> and the proof of guilt is evident or the presumption is great, every person charged with a crime or violation of municipal or county ordinance shall be entitled to pretrial release on reasonable conditions. If no conditions of release can reasonably protect the community from risk of physical harm to persons, assure the presence of the accused at trial, or assure the integrity of the juridical process, the accused may be detained.

Id. (emphasis added); see also Fla. R.Crim.P. 3.131(a).

The plain language of this constitutional provision demonstrates that the Petitioner was entitled to pretrial release with reasonable conditions because the <u>Graham</u> decision eliminated a life sentence for any non-homicide offense for juvenile offenders. As correctly recognized in <u>Graham</u>, Florida's current sentencing scheme abolished parole and thus, a sentence of life in prison means life in prison without parole. <u>Graham</u>, 130 S. Ct. at 202; *see also* Fla. Stat.§ 921.002(1)(e) (2010).

Due to the recency of the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Graham</u>, it appears that this is a matter of first impression in this Honorable Court. However, the situation presented to this Court is analogous to the situation that arose throughout the Country when the United States Supreme Court deemed the death penalty to be unconstitutional in *Furman v. Georgia*, 408 U.S. 238 (1972).²

"As forecasted by Chief Justice Burger in *Furman*, the temporary abolishment of the death penalty caused confusion regarding bail, indictment, jury selection and trial procedure." *Edinger v. Metzger*, 290 N.E. 577, 579 (Ohio Ct. App. 1972) citing *Furman* at 208 U.S. at 399. Courts were divided as to whether or not judicial invalidation of the death penalty destroyed the "capital" character of offenses previously punishable by death for purposes relating to pre-trial bail, where limitation upon the right to bail was constitutionally reserved for capital offenses where proof of guilt was evident or the presumption was great.

Some jurisdictions adopted the "classification" approach, which, despite the prohibition against imposing death as a sentence, made no distinction for purposes of entitlement to pre-trial bail, as it was the gravity of the offense, and not the penalty which could be imposed, that controlled. See, *e.g.*, *Roll v. Larson*, 516 P.2d 1392 (Utah 1973); *Ex parte Dennis*, 334 So.2d 369 (Miss. 1976); *People ex rel. Dunbar v. District Court*, 500 P.2d 358 (Colo. 1972); *People v. Anderson*, 6 Cal. 3d 628 (Cal. 1972), *superseded* by Article I, §27, *Cal. Const.*

² It is also analogous to the fallout from the abolition of the death penalty for capital sexual battery. See <u>Coker v. Georgia</u>, 433 U.S. 584 (1977); <u>Buford v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1981).

Other jurisdictions adopted the "punishment" approach in determining the entitlement to pre-trial bail, recognizing that the phrase "capital offense" is a definition of a penalty, i.e. the death penalty, rather than a definition or classification of a crime. See, e.g., *State v. Johnson*,³ 294 A.2d 245 (N. J. 1972); *Commonwealth v. Truesdale*, 296 A.2d 829 (Pa. 1972); *Edinger v. Metzger*, 290 N.E.2d 577 (Ohio Ct. App. 1972); *Ex parte Contella*, 485 S.W. 2d 910 (Tex.Crim.App. 1972); *Baumgarner v. Hall*, 506 S.W. 2d 834 (Ark. 1972); In re *Tarr*, 508 P.2d 728 (Ariz. 1973).

However, this Honorable Court was not required to decide this issue because Article I, section 14 of the Florida Constitution treated those offenses punishable by life imprisonment the same as a capital offense for purposes of bail. <u>Donaldson</u> <u>v. Sack</u>, 265 So.2d 499, 504 (Fla. 1972) (constitutional and statutory provisions for bail do not change because of elimination of death penalty because constitution also limits right to bail to those offenses punishable by life).

In the State of Florida, <u>both</u> theories have been used in determining the effect on procedural and substantive rights as it related to other capital offenses that were no longer punishable by death. However, it appears that the intent or

³ Procedurally, <u>Johnson</u> and <u>Truesdale</u> are similar to the Petitioner's case. All three Defendant's were arrested and charged <u>prior</u> to the change of the law removing the possibility of the punishment – the death penalty, or in the Petitioner's case, life imprisonment.

purpose of the substantive or procedural right dictates the approach taken. This has resulted in confusing and sometimes inconsistent results.

This Honorable Court was last presented with this issue in <u>Huffman v. State</u>, 813 So.2d 10 (Fla. 2000), where this Court held that the <u>punishment</u> approach was the appropriate approach to use in determining whether capital sexual battery was a non-capital case for purposes of determining time limitations under rule 3.850.

In <u>Huffman</u>, this Court relied on its previous holding in <u>Rusaw v. State</u>, 451 So.2d 469, 470 (Fla. 1984), which held that "a capital crime is one which the death sentence is possible." <u>Huffman</u>, 813 So.2d at 12. Under this holding, this Court expressly recognized that "even if a felony is classified in the Florida Statutes as a capital offense, it is not 'capital' under case law unless it is subject to the death penalty." <u>Id</u>. at 12.

Thus, this Court used the punishment approach and determined that Huffman and "all other defendant's convicted of crimes that may be classified as capital in the Florida Statutes, but who were not actually sentenced to death, qualify as noncapital defendants under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850". <u>Id</u>. at 12.

Florida courts have utilized conflicting approaches in determining whether certain offenses lose their capital character. These conflicting approaches were both used by this Honorable Court in <u>State v. Hogan</u>, 451 So.2d 844, 845 (Fla. 1984). In <u>Hogan</u>, this Court held that the defendant, on trial for capital sexual battery, was <u>not</u> entitled to a trial by twelve jurors because his crime was no longer a capital offense – one where death is a possible penalty. Thus, the "punishment" approach was used to determine this <u>pre</u>trial right.

Interestingly, in the same <u>Hogan</u> case, this Court held that sexual battery was still a "capital offense" for purposes of determining Hogan's sentence after the jury found him guilty of attempted sexual battery. <u>Id</u>. at 845. Thus, the "classification" approach was used for this <u>post</u>-conviction determination. This Honorable Court utilized this conflicting classification approach despite acknowledging "that in doing so we present a chameleon-like appearance". <u>Hogan</u> at 845.

In the case *sub judice*, the Fourth District applied the <u>classification</u> approach when determining the Petitioner's right to pretrial release even though numerous courts in Florida have utilized the <u>punishment</u> approach in determining whether certain rights and procedures remained intact despite the inability to impose the death penalty upon certain capital crimes. See <u>Huffman</u>; <u>Hogan</u> (number of jurors); <u>Donaldson v. Sack</u>, 265 So.2d 499, 504 (Fla. 1972) (indictment by grand jury does not apply to capital first degree murder offense because the punishment – the possibility of death, is prohibited); <u>Hall v. State</u>, 853 So.2d 546 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) (first degree murder was not "capital" offense for purposes of requiring a twelve person jury because death was not a possible penalty as a matter of law); <u>Generazio v. State</u>, 727 So.2d 333 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (since capital sexual battery is not a "capital" offense in which the death penalty can be given, the failure to instruct on a necessarily lesser-included offense is not fundamental error); <u>Carter v. State</u>, 483 So.2d 740 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) (because death was no longer a possible penalty for the offense of sexual battery, the Defendant may be charged with a crime via information rather than an indictment); <u>State v. Wells</u>, 466 So.2d 291 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) (capital offense of sexual battery can be charged via information as opposed to indictment since his death is no longer a possible penalty).

Despite the aforementioned cases, the Fourth District relied upon <u>Batie v.</u> <u>State</u>, 534 So.2d 694 (Fla. 1988), <u>State v. Hogan</u>, supra, and <u>Florida Parole</u> <u>Comm'n v. Criner</u>, 642 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) and applied the classification approach to determine that there was no entitlement to pretrial release even though the Petitioner could not be sentenced to life imprisonment. Critically, all of these cases involve matters relating to rights <u>after</u> conviction, not to pre-trial rights, such as entitlement to pre-trial bond.⁴

In <u>Batie</u>, this Court determined that the offense of capital sexual battery did not lose its "capital" nature for purposes of determining that Batie was not eligible for <u>post</u>-conviction bond – a right which was created by rule or statute – <u>Batie</u>, 534 So.2d at 694-95. In determining this non-constitutional right, this Court held that the prohibition against the death penalty for capital sexual battery did not alter its meaning for purposes of this rule, thereby using the classification approach.

In <u>Florida Parole Comm'n v. Criner</u>, the First District relied upon the statutory definition of capital sexual battery for the purposes of calculating Criner's parole release date. Again, this classification approach was used to determine the rights of a defendant after sentencing.

Likewise, in *Hogan*, this Court determined that the offense of capital sexual battery was still a capital offense for sentencing purposes <u>after</u> the Defendant was found guilty of attempted sexual battery. Again, this classification approach in *Hogan* was used when analyzing Hogan's rights <u>after</u> conviction, whereas the

⁴ See also <u>Jones v. State</u>, 861 So.2d 1261 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) (utilizing classification approach for issue involving sentencing the defendant as PRR qualified).

<u>Hogan</u> court utilized the punishment approach when determining the right to trial before twelve jurors.

The cases relied upon by the Fourth District are contrary to the intent of Article I, section 14. Bail is not intended to be punitive, nor is it intended to hold the defendant responsible for his crime without adjudication on the merits. As recognized in <u>Stack v. Boyle</u>, 342 U.S. 1, 4-5 (1951), "the function of bail is limited ... to the purpose of assuring the presence of that Defendant" at trial.

It is understood that a person charged with the possibility of being put to death or the possibility of spending the rest of his or her life in prison is more likely to flee than an individual charged with an offense that carries a lesser sentence. See <u>Id</u>. at 4-5 (admission to bail always involves a risk that the accused will take flight, but it is "a calculated risk which the law takes as the price of our system of justice"). Based upon this understanding, the drafters of Art. I, section 14 utilized specific language to limit pre-trial release as a matter of right for those offenses punishable by death and by life imprisonment.

The plain language of this constitutional provision supports a finding that it is based upon the possible punishment and not the classification of the offense. It is axiomatic that when reviewing constitutional provisions, this Court "follows principles parallel to those of statutory interpretation." *Ford v. Browning*, 992 So.2d 132, 136 (Fla. 2008) quoting <u>Zingale v. Powell</u>, 885 So.2d 277, 282 (Fla. 2004). "Any question regarding the meaning of a constitutional provision must begin with examining that provision's explicit language." <u>Id</u>. at 136 (citing <u>Soc'y</u> <u>Ophthalmology v. Fla. Optometric Ass'n</u>, 489 So.2d 1118, 1119 (Fla. 1986).

"If the constitutional language is clear, unambiguous, and addresses the matter at issue, it must be enforced as written, and courts do not turn to rules of constitutional construction." *Ford*, 992 So.2d at 136. "If the explicit language is ambiguous or does not address the exact issue before the court, the court must endeavor to construe the constitutional provision in a manner consistent with the intent of the framers and the voters." *Ford*, *Id*. (citing- *Crist v. Fla. Ass'n of Criminal Defense Lawyers, Inc.*, 978 So.2d 134, 140 (Fla. 2008).

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