IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA



CASE NO. SC 12-647

#### WAYNE TREACY,

Petitioner,

vs.

# AL LAMBERTI, as Sheriff of Broward County, Florida, and STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondents.

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

**PAMELA JO BONDI** Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

**CELIA TERENZIO** Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 656879

MITCHELL A. EGBER Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 35619 1515 North Flagler Drive Suite 900 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Counsel for Respondent

##

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

The Florida Constitution and Florida Legislature use the language "capital offense or offense punishable by life imprisonment" to indicate the seriousness of the crimes for which pretrial release will not be available. Recognizing that the more serious the crime, the less likely a defendant will show up for trial, bond may be denied to those charged with the most serious of crimes, among them the life felony of attempted first degree murder

with a deadly weapon. The fact that an individual of a certain age who is ultimately convicted of attempted first degree murder with a deadly weapon may no longer be sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility for parole, does not alter the seriousness of the crime. Thus, consistent with the plain meaning of the law, an individual charged with one of the most serious of crimes may be denied pretrial release.

<u>Graham's</u> determination that a sentence of life without the possibility of parole for a juvenile who commits a non-homicide offense is prohibited by the constitutional prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment has no bearing on the interpretation of the legislatively enacted pretrial consequences for that same crime. The right to bond is based on article I, section 14 of Florida's Constitution, not on Federal Constitutional principles.

As the Fourth District recognized in <u>Treacy</u>, in <u>Batie v</u>. <u>State</u>, 534 So. 2d 694 (Fla. 1988) this Court held that although a sentencing consequence attached to an offense becomes unavailable, remaining consequences of that offense, including bond, remain intact. <u>Treacy</u>, 80 So. 3d at 154. This Courts holding in <u>Batie</u> reflects long and established precedent by this Court and other Florida courts regarding the classification of felonies in light of release from detention and incarceration.

In <u>State v. Hogan</u>, 451 So.2d 844 (Fla.1984), cited by the Fourth District, "[t]he degree of the crime is what the legislature

says it is, and, just because a portion of a crime designated 'capital' cannot be carried out, the degree is not lessened," for purposes of determining the penalty for attempted capital offenses. Id. at 845. See also Rusaw v. State, 451 So.2d 469 (Fla.1984) (held degree of crime is what the legislature says it is, and, just because a portion of a crime designated "capital" cannot be carried out, degree is not lessened, at least not for purposes of setting penalties for "attempt" crimes); Florida Parole Com'n v. Criner, 642 So.2d 51, 52 (Fla. 1st DCA ) (held that parole commission properly treated Criner's crime as a "capital felony," in accordance with its legislative classification at the time of commission, citing Hogan and Batie); Wise v. State, 528 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988), decision approved, 537 So. 2d 994 (Fla. 1989); (held bond pending appeal was properly denied defendant convicted of sexual battery upon child 12 years of age or under pursuant to rule that persons convicted of capital crimes are ineligible for post trial release, even though it had been determined that defendants convicted of offense could not be sentenced to death, where statute still described offense as capital in nature); Selph v. State, 553 So. 2d 344 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (affirming denial of bail pending appeal as it is intent of legislature to deny bond to defendant convicted of sexual battery of child regardless of fact that sentence of death is not an option).

In light of the United States Supreme Court ruling Furman v.

<u>Georgia</u>, 408 U.S. 238, 92 S.Ct. 2726, 33 L.Ed.2d 346 (1972), in Donaldson v. Sack, 265 So. 2d 499 (Fla. 1972), this Court held:

> The constitutional and statutory provisions for bail do not change by the elimination of 'capital offense' because the constitutional provision in art. I, s 14, for bail, limits the right to bail not only as to those 'charged with a capital offense' but continues 'or an offense punishable by life imprisonment and the proof of guilt is evident or the presumption is great.' And of course this condition continues in the former 'capital cases' since they now become punishable by life imprisonment.[footnotes omitted].

#### Donaldson, 265 So. 2d at 504.

The underlying conceit of Petitioner's argument based on the <u>Graham</u> decision is that a juvenile no longer faces, in a practical and viable sense, a life sentence for a non-homicide crime and therefore, the crime is no longer subject to a life sentence. However, as opposed to Petitioner's argument, the holding in <u>Donaldson</u> is instructive and analogous as in <u>Donaldson</u> the "death penalty" had been abolished. A defendant facing capital punishment, like a juvenile here facing life imprisonment in light of Petitioner's argument, could not receive that punishment. Yet, in <u>Donaldson</u> where the punishment of death could no longer be carried out, this Court held that the constitutional and statutory requirements for bail do not change.

As in <u>Donaldson</u>, other jurisdiction did not change entitlement to bail in light of <u>Furman</u>. <u>See Jones v. Sheriff</u>, Washoe County, 509 P.2d 824 (Nevada 1973) (held defendants charged

with murder, robbery, and burglary were not entitled to bail as a matter of right on theory that only capital offenses were nonbailable and because of proscription of death penalty capital offenses no longer exist); <u>In re Kennedy</u>, 512 P.2d 201 (Okla. Crim. App. 1973) (held though death penalty may not be imposed, gravity of an offense previously categorized as capital remains the same for purposes of granting or denying bail, thus bail could be denied in case involving offense previously classified as capital where proof of guilt was evident or presumption thereof great); <u>e.g.</u>, <u>State v.</u> <u>Sparks</u>,255 S.E.2d 373 (N.C. 1979) (held whether or not a particular defendant depending upon the date his crime was committed faces the death penalty the crime of first degree murder is a "Capital offense " within the meaning of North Carolina statute is so notwithstanding that the trial itself may not be a "capital case" within the meaning of the jury selection statute).

Petitioner attempts to dissuade this Court from applying the very plain reasoning of the above-cited Florida Supreme Court cases, suggesting instead that this Court look to the reasoning of cases where he contends punishment as opposed to classification was the appropriate analysis. Cases cited by Petitioner as to his argument that this Court consider a punishment approach as opposed to classification of crimes for purposes of bail only concern the procedural aspects of a defendant's trial, i.e. right to trial by twelve person jury, and all involve the application of crimes no

longer punishable by death, not just life imprisonment. This Court has consistently reiterated that "death is different". Crump v. State, 654 So.2d 545, 547 (Fla.1995); State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1, 17 (Fla.1973) ("Death is a unique punishment in its finality and in its total rejection of the possibility of rehabilitation."), cert. denied, 416 U.S. 943, 94 S.Ct. 1950, 40 L.Ed.2d 295 (1974). Respondent suggests that the purpose of pre-trial and post-trial release has a different legislative intent, which is why the classification approach so often confirmed by this and other Florida courts is proper. Bail is substantively different as it does not involve procedural due process in the conduct of the trial. To the contrary, the ultimate purpose of bond is to insure an accused appears for that trial and, further, to protect the community at large prior to trial and after conviction for crimes which the legislature has classified as serious enough to be considered life felonies. Accordingly, the purpose of bond is distinguishable from the issue of punishment solely considered in Graham. For instance, even if a juvenile were to receive a sentence for a life felony less than life, it would not change the impact of the crime classified as a life felony by the legislature.

Petitioner cites <u>Huffman v. State</u>, 813 So. 2d 10 (Fla. 2000) suggesting this Court held the punishment approach appropriate in determining whether capital sexual battery was a non-capital case in terms of the statute of limitations regarding post conviction

motions. However, as in other cases cited by Petitioner, this case does not involve pre-trial or post trial release.

In Jones v. State, 861 So. 2d 1261, 1263 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) the Fourth District, interpreting Huffman, held:

> Here, there is no reason not to treat the statutory "capital" offense as "non-capital" for the purpose of applying section 775.082(9)(a). The legislative intent of the Act is to deter prison releasees from committing further serious crimes. It is inconceivable that the legislature did not intend capital sexual battery, as a "felony punishable by life," to fall within the scope of the Act. Therefore, the trial court validly imposed sentence under section 775.082(9)(a).

Respondents contend that prison releasees are more akin to bail as it involves release from custody and protection of the community at large, as the Fourth District noted in <u>Jones</u>. The legislative intent behind the PRR Act is to prevent persons released from prison from committing further serious crimes. <u>See</u> Ch. 97-239, Preamble, at 4398, Laws of Fla. This Court reiterated the following in <u>Grant v. State</u>, 770 So.2d 655, 661 (Fla.2000) (<u>quoting Rollinson v. State</u>, 743 So.2d 585, 589 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), approved, 778 So.2d 971 (Fla.2001)):

> The Act's classification and increased punishment for prison releasee reoffenders is rationally related to the legitimate state interests of punishing recidivists more severely than first time offenders and protecting the public from repeat criminal offenders. Limiting the Act's application to releasees who commit one of the enumerated felonies within three years of prison release is not irrational.

The Illinois' First District Court of Appeal considered a challenge to it's automatic transfer statute for juveniles in <u>People v. Salas</u>, 961 N.E. 2d 831 (Ill. 2011). Illinois' automatic transfer statute requires a juvenile to be transferred to adult criminal court without a hearing or any consideration of his youth or culpability or amenability to rehabilitation and subjected to a minimum 45-year prison term. The defendant argued "the automatic transfer statute violates the eighth amendment, in light of <u>Graham</u> and <u>Roper</u>, by mandating that all 15 and 16-year-old defendants who have been charged with certain predicate offenses, including first-degree murder, must be transferred to adult court without consideration of their youthfulness or culpability." <u>Id</u>., at 846. In finding the defendant's argument lacked merit the Illinois court held:

The eighth amendment provides: "Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." (Emphasis added.) U.S. Const., amend. VIII. The statutes at issue in Roper and Graham imposed the death penalty (Roper) and natural life in prison without parole (Graham) on juveniles and clearly constituted punishments that were subject to constitutional analysis under the eighth amendment. By contrast, the automatic transfer statute at issue here does not impose any punishment on the juvenile defendant, but rather it only provides a mechanism for determining where defendant's case is to be tried, i.e., it provides for the forum in which his guilt may be adjudicated. The punishment imposed on defendant here. specifically, his 50-year sentence of

imprisonment, was made pursuant to the Unified Code of Corrections and not pursuant to the automatic transfer statute. As the automatic transfer statute does not impose any punishment, it is not subject to the eighth amendment.

The holding in Roper was that the eighth amendment forbids imposition of the death penalty on offenders who were under the age of 18 when they committed their crimes; the holding in Graham was that the eighth amendment forbids imposition of natural life juvenile imprisonment without parole on offenders who did not commit homicide. Neither addressed the Graham Roper nor constitutionality of an automatic transfer statute similar to the one at issue here. The amendment principles and analysis eighth Roper and Graham have utilized in no application where the statute at issue imposes no punishment and is not subject to the eighth amendment.

<u>Salas</u>, 961 N.E. 2d at 846. <u>See also People v. Jackson</u>, 965 N.E.2d 623, 632 (2012) (held automatic transfer "is not a penalty provision in even the broadest sense. It merely dictates for a small class of older juvenile defendants who are charged with the commission of certain heinous crimes where their cases are to be tried. Guilt has not been determined at this stage, let alone what punishment, if any, should be imposed").

The pre-trial issue in <u>Salas</u> is similar to that in the case at bar. Here, as in <u>Salas</u>, Respondent suggests that <u>Graham's</u> holding goes far beyond punishment. However, like the Illinois automatic transfer statute, the issue of bail is not one of punishment. The purpose of bail is to insure a defendant's appearance in court and

to protect the community. See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.131 (b)(3).

Petitioner urges this Court to follow the concurring opinion in <u>Edmonds v. State</u>, 955 So.2d 787, 808-811 (Miss. 2007). However, Petitioner misinterprets the holding of the concurring opinions of Justices Diaz and Graves. In <u>Edmunds</u>, the defendant was charged with a capital crime as a juvenile which had been abrogated by <u>Roper</u>.

However, as Justice Diaz noted, Appellant also fell under the category "punishable by imprisonment for a maximum of twenty (20) years or more or by life imprisonment". <u>Id</u>., at 810. In light of that provision Justice Diaz observed:

In the case of offenses punishable by imprisonment for a maximum of twenty (20) years or more or by life imprisonment, a county or circuit judge may deny bail for such offenses when the proof is evident or the presumption great upon making a determination that the release of the person or persons arrested for such offense would constitute a special danger to any other person or to the community or that no condition or combination of conditions will reasonably assure the appearance of the person as required. Miss. Const. art. 3 § 29(3) (emphasis supplied). Accordingly, the State was required to prove that Tyler constituted a danger to the community or another person or that there was a substantial risk of flight. At no point did the State produce a scintilla of evidence of either. On the other hand, numerous teachers, members of the community, and even the Sheriff of Oktibbeha County testified that Tyler was not a danger to the community or even a violent person. He had never even been disciplined at school. Additionally, it is difficult to imagine a thirteen-year-old having the ability to flee when his entire

family resides in Mississippi.

Edmunds, 955 So. 2d at 811.

Ultimately, as regards the consideration of the future issue of bond, the concurrence in <u>Edmonds</u> was factually premised that the trial court had abused it's discretion in not setting bond.

Further, in <u>Hudson v. McAdory</u>, 268 So.2d 916 (Miss. 1972) the Mississippi Supreme Court citing this Court's decision in <u>Donaldson</u>, held that the <u>Furman</u> decision did not nullify exception to statutory right to bail in cases of capital offenses when proof is evident or presumption great. As Hudson observed:

> All statutory procedural safeguards that are now part of laws enacted by legislature involving capital crimes or offenses or crimes of serious nature still are in full force and effect even though death penalty has been removed from some of those offenses, including but not limited to armed robbery, forcible rape and kidnapping; legislature intended to retain those safeguards in all cases where maximum sentence is life imprisonment.

Finally, Petitioner suggests that the rule of lenity be applied. However, as he notes his particular case is now moot. This Court has recognized that the rule of lenity is a canon of last resort, <u>Kasischke v. State</u>, 991 So.2d 803, 814 (Fla. 2008), <u>citing</u> <u>United States v. Shabani</u>, 513 U.S. 10, 17, 115 S.Ct. 382, 130 L.Ed.2d 225 (1994) ("The rule of lenity, however, applies only when, after consulting traditional canons of statutory construction, we are left with an ambiguous statute."). Moreover, as Petitioner also concedes, the rules of lenity apply to penal statutes. <u>State v. Winters</u>, 346 So.2d 991, 993 (Fla. 1977) ("Penal statutes must be strictly construed in favor of the accused where there is doubt as to their meaning and must be sufficiently explicit so that men of common intelligence may ascertain whether a contemplated act is within or without the law, and so that the ordinary man may determine what conduct is proscribed by the statute.").

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